



Llywodraeth Cymru Welsh Government

Investigating the impact of the pandemic on teacher's and parent's health and wellbeing in SEN contexts.

# Research

Research document no: 078/2023 Date of issue: November 2023

## Investigating the impact of the pandemic on teacher's and parent's health and wellbeing in SEN

- Audience Welsh Government policymakers: practitioners responsible for supporting children with Additional Learning Needs; local authorities; regional consortia; national and local bodies in Wales with an interest in promoting and supporting children and young people's emotional/mental health
- **Overview** This report analyses the impact of the pandemic on the health and wellbeing of children with SEN and their families, and staff in special schools in Wales. It also suggests ways to recover from COVID-19 and limit the impact on individual and group wellbeing.

Authors: Noone, S., Hulson-Jones, A., Pegram, J., Hooper, N., Hughes, J.C

Action required The findings and recommendations have been fed back to the Welsh Government for their consideration.

Further information Enquiries about this document should be directed to: Dr Steve Noone School of Educational Sciences Bangor University Enquiries about this document should be directed to:





Facebook/EducationWales

Additional copies This document can be accessed from the Welsh Government's website at: https://hwb.gov.wales/professional-learning/leadingprofessional-learning/research-and-enguiry/nationalstrategy-for-educational-research-and-enquirynsere/collaborative-evidence-network

Mae'r ddogfen yma hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg. This document is also available in Welsh.

# Contents

1. Executive summary	4
2. Introduction	5
3. Review of the literature	6
3.1 The Incidence of Intellectual Disability	6
3.2 Challenging Behaviour and its Impact	6
3.3 Interventions to manage psychological distress	7
3.4 Conclusion	8
Research questions:	8
4. Methods	9
4.1 Online Survey	9
Measures	9
4.2 Focus Groups	11
Ethics	11
4.3 Procedure	11
Survey procedure	11
Focus group procedure	11
Parent-Carer focus group	12
Staff focus group	14
Qualitative data analysis	14
5. Findings	15
5.1 Survey outcomes	15
Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic	16
Impact on psychological health and wellbeing: Open-ended ques	tion outcomes 17
Measures of psychological wellbeing	19
Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale	19
The Core-10	19
The Acceptance and Action Questionnaire (AAQ-II)	19
Summary	21
5.2 Focus group outcomes	21
Parent focus group	21
Staff focus group	26
Summary of focus group findings	30
6. Conclusions and limitations	34
6.1 Summary of findings	34
6.2 Limitations	38
6.3 Recommendations	38
Appendix A	41
Appendix B	42

Appendix C	43	
Appendix D	44	
References	45	

# List of tables

<b>Table 1.</b> Details the survey structure with number of questions in each section	9
Table 2. Internal consistency for the WEMWBS, The Core-10 and the AAQ-II	
as measured using Cronbach's alpha	10
Table 3. Background information on the child and family characteristics for	
each participant	13
<b>Table 4</b> . Regional split between sample participants across Wales	15
Table 5. Participant demographics	16
Table 6. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the psychological health	
and wellbeing of respondents	17
Table 7.         Themes identified from open-ended survey about how pandemic	
impacted psychological health and wellbeing	17
Table 8. Themes identified from the open-ended survey about what	
participants found helpful in supporting psychological wellbeing	18
Table 9. Mean scores for the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale,	
Core-10 and The Acceptance and Action Questionnaire	19
Table 10. Correlation of WEMBWBS to other scale	20
Table 11. Themes and subthemes from parent focus group	21
Table 12.         Themes and subthemes from staff focus group	26

## 1. Executive summary

- **Review**: The research literature provided an initial understanding of (1) the impact of the pandemic on the health and wellbeing of children, teaching staff and parents/family carers in SEN contexts and (2) what interventions already exist to help those populations manage psychological distress.
- **Survey**: Information about the psychological impact of the pandemic on teaching staff and family carers in SEN contexts across Wales was gathered through online-surveys. 90% of respondents indicated that the Covid-19 pandemic has had a negative impact on their psychological health and wellbeing. 66% of respondents reported a decrease in their overall enjoyment of life and 45% of respondents said that they felt more stressed and anxious because of the pandemic.
- **Focus group**: From analysis of the data, five core themes emerged from the discussions with parents/family carers during the focus group: 1. the exacerbation of existing difficulties, 2. the creation of new problems arising from Covid-19, 3. psychological distress, 4. positive coping mechanisms, and 5. ideas for future adverse events. From the staff interviews, four core themes were identified; 1. psychological adjustment / altered states, 2. additional burdens, 3. maintenance and positive coping, and 4. ideas for the future.
- **Recommendations**: to further develop and co-produce an accessible e-learning package to help families and schools develop a shared understanding of the impact of stress in their lives and inform them of the evidence-based options available to them should they wish to develop school-based initiatives. A prototype e-learning package has been developed by the first author and is ready to trial with parents.

# 2. Introduction

The impact of the COVID-19 outbreaks and the associated lockdown measures to reduce the contagion has been felt across the globe (Agarwal, 2021). Since the pandemic, researchers have turned their attention towards investigating the range of consequences that school closures had on social development, educational performance, and the health and wellbeing of children across Wales (Marchant et al., 2021). Over 1.5 billion children from 188 countries were impacted by Covid-19 (UNESCO, 2020). Parents and caregivers attempted to work remotely or were unable to work while caring for children, with little clarity on how long the situation would last. Given this context, it is no surprise that many struggled with their mental health during this period (O'Connor et al., 2021).

However, some struggled more than others. Preliminary findings on the impact of COVID-19 on the mental wellbeing of children with an intellectual disability (ID) / autism suggests a significantly worse outcome compared to typically developing children, with sedentary, anxious, and aggressive behaviour all increasing (Theis et al., 2021). The disruption brought increased challenges for learners with additional learning needs (ALN). Many were used to receiving extra support in the classroom, and this was often not available or was not possible in the same way when learners worked from home. Providers continued to look for innovative ways to help these learners continue with their learning, although learners with ALN often found it difficult to engage in online, remote learning. Families caring for children with ALN also experienced a greater negative impact, given their reliance on carefully established routines and relationships, as well as professional and informal support, specialist equipment and professional support that is only available in schools (Toseeb et al., 2020). Additionally, as a result of the pandemic, teachers of ALN children have reported higher levels of stress and burnout than teachers of typically developing children (Ueda et al., 2020), due to restrictions, changes in routines, risk of placement breakdown and worries about health vulnerabilities.

This study was part of the Collaborative Evidence Network (CEN) research which sought to investigate the impact of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic on the education system in Wales. This research, via survey and focus group interviews, investigates the impact of COVID on the wellbeing and mental health of school staff in special school settings and family carers of the children with ALN. It further aims to discover whether there is a need for an evidence-based intervention, based on the principles of psychological flexibility (Hayes et al., 2013). These are ideas that have been developed in research and therapy to explain the shift from positive mental health to the experience of psychological distress.

The report will introduce the topic through a literature review. To help understand the impact of COVID on parents and teachers of children with ALN, data was collected via a survey and focus groups. The report will attempt to show how psychological flexibility maybe a helpful way to understand the data and offer some innovative ideas for developing training and support. The final chapter suggests how this training and support could be offered via a special school acting as a community hub.

# 3. Review of the literature

## 3.1 The Incidence of Intellectual Disability

Intellectual disability (ID) describes children and adults who have significant difficulties in their ability to learn at an expected level and function independently in daily life. It is characterised by impairments in age related intellectual abilities as well as in adaptive functioning across conceptual, social, and practical domains that occur during the developmental period (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). The education of these learners has traditionally been met within a Special Educational Needs (SEN) context. Recent policy in Wales now defines the needs of such learners under the new Additional Learning Needs (ALN) strategy, as set out in the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act (2018). This unified legislative framework emphasises a more person-centred approach to assessing, identifying, and monitoring learners with ALN across the broader age range of 0–25 years (Welsh Government, 2019).

It is estimated that 2.5% of children in Wales have an intellectual disability (ID) and 1% are autistic. Although this may be a relatively small number, these children and young people have an increased risk of (1) experiencing mental health problems (2) developing behaviours that others may find challenging (Hastings et al., 2013; NICE, 2015) and (3) experiencing stressful interactions with caregivers (Crnic et al., 2017).

## 3.2 Challenging Behaviour and its Impact

For children with ID, the risk of developing behaviours that challenge others is three to four times that of typically developing children (Emerson & Hatton, 2007; Emerson et al., 2010). In fact, it has been calculated that approximately 10–20% of adults and children with ID display behaviours that challenge (Bowring et al., 2017; Lundqvist, 2013). A recent study on the prevalence of challenging behaviours (CB) in special schools in the UK (Nicholls et al., 2020) found that 53% of pupils displayed at least one CB; 36% presented with self-injurious behaviour, 30% displayed aggressive/destructive behaviour and 26% engaged in stereotyped behaviour. High prevalence of CB is related to restrictive and aversive responses that result in exclusion in special education settings (DoE, 2018; DoH, 2014), and a growing body of research indicates that the presence of behavioural problems in children with ID may be more predictive of poorer adaptive outcomes than the presence of the core difficulties in learning (Baker et al., 2003; Woodman et al., 2015). Children and young people with an ID are therefore an especially vulnerable subset of the ALN population but will be referred to as children with ALN within the rest of this report to help link any recommendations with new Welsh Government policy.

Much of the literature on how CB leads to stress in employed carers has been undertaken in adult residential services (Hatton et al., 1999; Hastings, 2002; Robertson et al., 2005; Rose and Rose, 2005); this research suggests that regular exposure to CB may result in stress, burnout and mental health problems and high staff turnover. For example, Flynn et al. (2018) found that the degree of exposure to CB impacted staff wellbeing, with higher levels being associated with greater psychological distress. The limited studies in special education schools suggest that CB can have a negative impact on teachers, support staff and other pupils (Hämeenaho, 2016; Brittle, 2020). Teachers are reported to express significant concerns about CB, with approximately one fifth experiencing anger and exhaustion when dealing with incidents (Male, 2003). Special educators who have had prolonged exposure to CB report increased burnout, and this has been associated with increased staff sickness, which in turn reduces the stability of the learning environment (Hastings and Brown, 2002). There is evidence that working in special education settings may bring additional issues to those already mentioned. For example, it has been argued that special educational settings can lack role clarity and administrative support (Bettini et al., 2017) and that feelings of isolation and loneliness and minimal collaboration with colleagues are likely to elevate stress levels even more (Albrecht et al., 2009; Cancio and Conderman, 2008; Kaff, 2004; Katsiyannis et al., 2003; Prather-Jones, 2011; Schlichte et al., 2005).

Whilst the impact of CB on the stress levels of those in ALN settings is well documented, it is important to explore the distinction between stress and burnout. Stress is used to describe the immediate effect of specific stressors, for example, a challenging student, (Cancio et al., 2018). The cognitive reappraisal model has been dominant in understanding how this happens (Lazarus and Folkman, 1984). This describes a two-stage process. The first is an appraisal of the stressful demand. The second, which happens immediately, is a review of personal resources available to meet that demand. Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) model helps to explain how individuals might respond differently to the same stressors occurring in the same environment. Certain environments may make stress more likely, but each individual has a different threshold in how they are able to cope.

Over time, repeated exposure to stress can lead to burnout (Wong et al., 2017). This is especially well-documented in the caring services and has been reported in the special education literature. For example, literature has suggested those in special educational settings are likely to report burnout in the following ways:

- Decreased feelings of accomplishment. For example, not meeting the needs of pupils, feeling less successful in dealing with crisis interventions (Embich, 2001; Pullis, 1992; Zabel and Zabel, 1982).
- Difficulty with personal or professional relationships. For example, teachers choosing to isolate themselves due to work overload, not collaborating with colleagues, not socialising with colleagues in or outside work (Maslach and Jackson, 1984; Pullis, 1992; Sweeney et al., 1993; Wrobel, 1993).
- Neglect of other responsibilities. For example, not finding time to complete paperwork, their structure and consistency diminishes (George et al., 1995; Zabel and Zabel, 1982).
- Emotional exhaustion. For example, being extremely tired after work, not participating in hobbies, not socialising with friends after work. When teachers do not find sufficient coping resources to deal with their stress, they may experience a loss of enthusiasm and motivation and may no longer find meaning in their work (Matheny et al., 2000).

## 3.3 Interventions to manage psychological distress

Given the psychological challenges of living and working with children with ALN prior to the pandemic, many interventions have been developed over the years (Crnic et al., 2017; Guralnick, 2017; 2011). A growing evidence-base has emerged for the effectiveness of interventions that draw upon mindfulness processes and acceptance principles (often referred to as mindfulness-based interventions or MBI's), on psychological distress and wellbeing in staff in services for adults with ID. Although a recent study found a large-scale

school wide, mindfulness-based intervention to be ineffective in reducing pupils stress (Montero-Marin et al., 2022), the study demonstrated this was largely due to a failure of the project to help pupils to practice mindfulness—those that engaged in regular practice did benefit. Many of these interventions aim to increase a person's ability to be more 'psychologically flexible'. The concept of psychological flexibility originated in the field of behavioural psychology and refers to a persons' ability to manage and cope with difficult and stressful situations and has been associated with positive wellbeing (Burton and Bonanno, 2016). It has been defined as "the ability to contact the present moment more fully as a conscious human being and to change, or persist in, behaviour when doing so serves valued ends" (Hayes et al., 2006, p.7). Several studies have identified the role of psychological flexibility in reducing burnout (Hayes et al., 2004; Masuda et al, 2007; Lloyd et al., 2013), as well as mediating the relationship between psychological distress (Kurz et al. 2014) and mood disorders (Kashdan et al., 2006). Similarly, several studies have utilised Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) to target staff psychological flexibility in adult care settings, reporting reductions in psychological distress and burnout (Noone and Hastings, 2009, 2010; Bethay et al., 2013) and reduced stress (Smith and Gore, 2012).

Mindfulness-based interventions have been successful in helping teachers be more effective at shaping the behaviour of their pre-school learners (Singh et al., 2013). Work has also been conducted showing that ACT can improve the wellbeing of caregivers of children with ALD (Lunsky et al., 2018; Magnacca et al., 2021). Yet to date, little work has been undertaken to examine mindfulness-based interventions or the psychological flexibility model with school staff wellbeing or family carers of children with ALN. Additionally, there have been no empirical studies of this approach conducted with these populations post-pandemic.

## 3.4 Conclusion

Regular exposure to children with ALN who present with behaviours that challenge can result in higher levels of stress, burnout and staff turnover. There would appear to be a direct link between the degree of exposure to student challenging behaviour and its impact on wellbeing with greater exposure being associated with greater psychological distress. The pandemic is likely to have exacerbated this distress and therefore signals, with greater urgency, the need for evidence-based interventions.

This research investigates, via survey and focus group interviews, the impact of COVID on the wellbeing and mental health of school staff in special school settings and family carers of the children with ALN. It further aims to discover whether there is a need for intervention, and if so, whether a psychological flexibility intervention would be appropriate.

#### **Research questions:**

- 1. How has the pandemic impacted on the wellbeing of family carers and teaching staff of children attending special schools in Wales?
- 2. Can psychological flexibility help to understand the well-being of family carers and teaching staff of children attending special schools in Wales?
- 3. How feasible would it be to deliver a school-based intervention that would promote better wellbeing in family carers and school staff using evidence-based approaches?

## 4. Methods

## 4.1 Online Survey

### Measures

To answer the first research question, an online survey was devised to measure the impact of the pandemic on the wellbeing of family carers and members of staff in SEN schools. The survey was made available online from 21<sup>st</sup> March 2022 and remained open until 30<sup>th</sup> June 2022. The first section of the survey served to capture participant demographics (see Table 5). Section one of the survey also included a three option Likert scale on the impact of the pandemic on health and wellbeing (a lot, somewhat and not at all) and two open-ended questions about the psychological impact and what had been most helpful to promote coping.

The second section of the survey combined three self-report questionnaires on psychological health, the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (WEMWBS), the Core-10 and the Acceptance and Action Questionnaire (AAQ-II). See Table 1 below for a summary of the survey structure.

Section	Name of the section / Questionnaire measure	Number of
		questions
1	Participant demographics and response to pandemic	10
2	The Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale	14
	The Core-10	10
	The Acceptance and Action Questionnaire (AAQ-II)	7
	Total number of questions	41

Table 1. Details of the surve	y structure with number o	f questions in each section.
-------------------------------	---------------------------	------------------------------

Impact on psychological health and wellbeing: Open-ended question outcomes The two additional open-ended questions added to the survey were:

- 1. In your own words, tell us how has the COVID-19 pandemic impacted on your psychological health and wellbeing?
- 2. In your own words, tell us what have you found to be helpful in supporting your psychological health and wellbeing during the pandemic?

In order to undertake a thematic analysis (Braun and Clarke, 2006) the qualitative data was transferred into an Excel spread sheet. The first author read through all the responses and highlighted significant points and identified emerging patterns of responses. A separate column, adjacent to participants' responses was added and entitled, 'Themes'. In this column, responses were grouped under broad themes of how the COVID-19 pandemic was reported to have impacted on participants' psychological health and wellbeing.

#### The Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale

The Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (WEMWBS) (Tennant et al., 2007) is comprised only of positively worded items relating to different aspects of positive mental health. Although the WEMWBS was not developed to measure mental health and should not be used for screening purposes (Taggart et al., 2015), the scale was used to provide a picture of mental wellbeing. The measure began as a 7-item scale but was expanded by the original authors to14 items to provide a better balance of feeling and functioning items. The overall score for the WEMWBS is calculated by totalling the scores for each item, with equal weights. The following scores are used as a guide to indicate the different levels of wellbeing: low = (14 - 44), medium (45 - 57) and high = (58-70). Higher WEMWBS scores indicate a higher level of mental wellbeing.

#### The Core-10

The Core-10 (Barkham et al., 2013) is a shortened version of the 34 item CORE-OM (Evans et al., 2000). The Core-10 is a well-established measure for assessing low level mental health problems, for example, anxiety, depression, trauma, physical problems, functioning and risk to self. Participants are asked to rank 10 statements about how they have been within the last week. For example, I have felt tense, anxious or nervous. Participants rank 10 symptoms between 0 - 4, total scores range from 0 to 40. Higher scores on this measure indicate higher levels of general psychological distress, a total score of 10 or below is regarded to be within the non-clinical range. Scores between 20 - 24 indicate moderate-to-severe psychological distress. A score of 25 or above indicates that the participant is experiencing severe psychological distress.

#### The Acceptance and Action Questionnaire (AAQ-II)

The Acceptance and Action Questionnaire (AAQ-II) (Bond et al., 2011) is a well-used measure of psychological flexibility / inflexibility (Hayes et al., 2013) and is a revision of the 10-item version of its predecessor. The present study examined the item-response characteristics of the 7-item version of the AAQ-II. All items are negatively framed, for example, "My painful experiences and memories make it difficult for me to live a life that I would value". Items are rated on a 7-point scale ranging from 0 = never true to 6 = always true. Total scores range between 0 - 42, with higher scores indicating lower levels of psychological flexibility. Preliminary evidence suggests that the AAQ-II has adequate reliability and validity in the measure of psychological flexibility / inflexibility both clinical and non-clinical samples (Bond et al. 2011; Flefferus et al. 2012).

To test whether the three questionnaires (the WEMWBS, Core-10 and AAQ-II) have good internal consistency, which means that each of the questions within each questionnaire can be shown to measure what it is intended to measure, a Cronbach's alpha was conducted. All scales scored good to excellent (see Table 2). Cronbach's alpha values of 0.7 or higher indicate acceptable internal consistency.

Table 2. Internal consistency fo	or the WEMWBS,	The Core-10 an	d the AAQ-II as
measured using Cronbach's all	oha.		

Scale	Cronbach's Alpha	N of items
WEMWBS	.933	14
Core-10	.852	10
AAQ-II	.911	7

## 4.2 Focus Groups

Two separate focus groups took place in a large SEN school in north Wales. One with a group of staff and one with a group of parents. Each focus group was audio recorded and transcribed. The transcriptions were subjected to a thematic analysis (Braun and Clarke, 2006). The original plan had been to repeat the process with other schools in other parts of Wales, but it had to be abandoned after problems with recruitment. This of course places some restrictions in generalising findings.

#### Ethics

Ethical approval was submitted as part of a larger ethics application that combined four other research projects within the Collaborative Evidence Network (CEN). The five projects that were included were all investigating the impact of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic on the education system in Wales. Informed consent was given by all participants for the study. Participants were informed that the final transcripts would not include any identifying information, all names would be given pseudonyms and verbatim quotes from the interview sessions would be anonymised.

Participants were notified on the information sheet, and just prior to the interview commencing, that they were able to withdraw from the study at any time. Participants were also informed that they could request for their data to be withdrawn from the study up until analysis has been finalised.

#### 4.3 Procedure

#### Survey procedure

Study recruitment involved two separate stages. Given the small number of SEN schools in Wales (N=40), all SEN schools were initially invited to take part in the study. A bilingual email invitation letter was sent to school headteachers via regional educational consortiums in Wales. Included in the email was an invitation letter explaining details of the survey and focus group for SEN teachers and family carers.

The target population were: (1) primary, middle, secondary and special educational needs (SEN) schools maintained by the local authority in Wales. The inclusion criteria for members of school staff were: (2) staff at the selected primary, middle, secondary and SEN schools. The inclusion criteria for family carers were: (3) parents and primary family carers of children with ALN who attended the selected SEN schools. There were no age or gender exclusions.

Once the headteacher had accepted the invitation, stage two involved the headteacher forwarding the information to teachers and family carers via schools' communication systems. Researchers liaised with the headteachers and an appointed member of staff, to forward electronic survey links to the relevant people in the school, through the school's network. Paper copies of the survey with prepaid (stamped) envelopes were also made available for those wishing to complete a paper-based version of the survey. Out of the 40 schools approached, 20 responded to the invite.

#### Focus group procedure

An invitation to take part in the focus groups was sent to the headteachers of two SEN schools. One in North Wales responded and agreed to take part. The headteacher

identified a member of staff to work with the research team to help recruit parents of the children who attended the SEN school to participate in the study.

Two focus groups were held with a total of 12 participants, one with a group of four parents and one with a group of eight staff. Parents and school staff were asked questions about their health and wellbeing related to the impact of COVID. The interview schedule for parent and school staff can be found in Appendix A and Appendix B respectively.

#### Parent-Carer focus group

Participants: Four parents of children with ALN who attend an SEN school accepted the invitation to take part in the focus group. All 4 participants were female and had at least one child who attended the SEN school. Their children had a variety of different diagnosis and levels of need. This information is summarised in Table 3 below. Participant names and the names of their children and spouses have been anonymised.

Focus groups were conducted in person on school premises. Details of the study aims, and procedures were outlined in the information sheets provided. In addition, the principal investigator explained verbally how the focus group would be conducted prior to the focus group commencing.

# Table 3. Background information on the child and family characteristics for each participant

Participant	Participant information
(P) Number	
P1	The participant has two daughters. Lora, (13 years) has ID* and attends an SEN* setting. No challenging behaviour reported. Lora's older sister Katie (15 years) attends a mainstream setting but was recently diagnosed with ADHD* and ODD*. Katie presents with CB*.
P2	They have two sons, Ben (13 years) has a rare genetic disorder and attends an SEN setting. No CB reported. Ben has an older brother, Luke, who attends mainstream setting. Luke struggled with anxiety around passing on the virus and harming Ben. Ben did contract Covid-19 and experienced complications. Luke continues to receive counselling for this.
P3	The participant has three daughters. Flo (13 years) has a genetic disorder, no CB and attends a SEN setting. Flo has two older (TD*) sisters. During lockdown, Flo became anxious about the virus getting into the house and engaged in a number of obsessive behaviours to make the home safe (checking and closing windows and curtains).
P4	They have twin daughters, Hollie and Marie (14 years). Both have a genetic disorder and attend a SEN setting. Hollie also recently diagnosed with autism and arthritis. CB reported. The sisters no longer get on following lockdown.

\* ADHD = Attentional Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, CB = Challenging Behaviour, ID = Intellectual Disability,

ODD = Oppositional Defiant Disorder, SEN = Special Educational Needs, TD = Typically Developing

Both the written and oral information emphasised that, in reporting the data, answers will be treated anonymously and will not name their school. Participants were then given the opportunity to ask questions and consider their participation in the focus group.

The headteacher and participating members of the school team were fully aware of the aims and procedures of the focus group. A member of the school staff team were present for the duration of the interviews to overlook the interview being conducted.

Focus groups were audio recorded and all data that was gathered is stored securely on a password protected university server that only the research teams will have access to. In line with Bangor University's Research Data Management policy, data will be retained for a minimum of 5 years after publication.

#### Staff focus group

Eight members of staff from an SEN school in North Wales accepted the invitation to take part in the focus group. The group included five teachers, and three teaching assistants. Seven of the eight participants were female. The same procedures as documented for the parents above were followed for the staff focus groups.

#### Qualitative data analysis

The parent focus group lasted approximately 90 minutes and the teacher focus group lasted just over one hour. Both sessions were audio-recorded using a dictaphone and recordings were sent away to be transcribed. Analysis of the data was undertaken in a systematic fashion. Analysis of the transcripts from the parent group was completed before starting analysis of the staff group. Researchers followed the six stages of thematic content analysis outlined by Braun and Clarke (2006). The first step in the process involved reading through transcripts at least twice before matching and attaching the supplementary notes to the corresponding prose. Once the researcher had familiarised themselves with the data, initial codes were identified. Codes have been described by Boyatzis (1998) as "the most basic segment, or element, of the raw data or information that can be assessed in a meaningful way regarding the phenomenon" (Boyatzis, 1998, p63). The generation of initial codes is the second step in Braun and Clarke's process. At this point, researchers were able to cross check codes using a process known as intercoder reliability (ICR). ICR strengthens the trustworthiness of the analysis process (Kurasaki, 2000) by examining the categories and decision processes made by the first researcher. ICR was calculated on all of the codes, dividing the number of agreements by the total number of agreements plus disagreements. The total score was calculated to be 88.1%. Although there is no universally agreed threshold for an ICR score, Miles and Huberman (1994) suggests a standard of 80% agreement on 95% of codes. The third step involved the researcher organising the codes into separate thematic categories. A theme is defined as a 'patterned response of meaning' with data items and across the entire data set. Braun and Clarke (2006) state that the 'keyness' of a theme is not necessarily dependent on quantifiable measures - but rather whether it captures something important in relation to the overall research question'. The fourth and fifth steps involved reviewing, labelling, and defining the final set of sub-themes. The sixth and final stage in the thematic content analysis involved producing the final thematic report which is included in the results section below and a 'thematic map' can be found in Appendix C and D which illustrates the theme categories for both the staff and parent-carer focus group.

# 5. Findings

## 5.1 Survey outcomes

Ninety-four respondents, made up of 59 teaching staff and 31 parents and family carers across Wales completed the survey; 93 participants completed the English version of the survey, and one respondent completed the Welsh version. Two respondents completed only the first section and were therefore discounted from the final data analysis, leaving 92 eligible responses. Tables 4 and 5 present details for the general regional information and respondent demographic information respectively.

Participants provided information regarding the schools' county (either where they work or the school where their children attend), their age, and whether they are based in the classroom or not.

Region	N	%
North Wales	71	76
Mid Wales	3	3
South Wales	19	21
Total	92	

#### Table 4. Regional split between sample participants across Wales

As can be seen from Table 4, there was a very strong bias in the data with participants from north Wales. This may reflect the geographical base of the lead researcher and the opportunities to visit two schools in the north to discuss the project and generate interest in the research.

## Table 5. Participant demographics

Participant	N	%
demographics		
County		
Anglesey	1	1.1
Conwy	50	54.3
Denbighshire	8	8.7
Flintshire	10	10.9
Gwynedd	1	1.1
Glamorgan	2	2.2
Powys	3	3.3
Swansea	17	18.5
Total	92	
Age group		
18–24	4	4.4
25–34	18	19.8
35–44	33	36.3
45–54	21	23.1
55–64	15	16.5
School based	59	65.5
Family carer	31	34.4

#### Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic

Overall, 91% of respondents indicated that the Covid-19 pandemic had a negative impact on their psychological health and wellbeing (see Table 6). Table 6. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the psychological health andwellbeing of respondents.

Response category	N	%
A lot	19	20.9
Somewhat	63	69.2
Not at all	9	9.9

**Impact on psychological health and wellbeing: Open-ended question outcomes** In the first open-ended question in section one of the survey, participants were asked how the COVID-19 pandemic had impacted on their psychological health and wellbeing. In total, 74 of the participants completed this question. Responses were coded using the same thematic content analysis procedure as documented in the focus group procedure section above. This elicited four separate themes: one related to stress and worry, one to a disturbed mood and mild depression, one about missing family and friends and one around specific worries around finances. A fifth theme, called 'other', captured several miscellaneous responses that did not fit into either of the earlier four. Table 7 shows the frequency and percentages of each of the five themes for which the codes were categorised.

#### Table 7. Themes identified from the analysis of open-ended survey question that

# asked about how the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted psychological health and wellbeing.

Theme	N	%
Stress/anxiety, fear & worry	33	45.2
Low mood	22	30.1
Missing family and friends	7	9.6
Financial worries	3	4.1
Other	7	9.6

It is important to note that several participants reported a number of different responses to this open-ended question, and these are recorded in the different themes.

To understand whether participants had used personal coping skills during the pandemic a second open-ended question asked what they had found to be helpful in supporting their psychological health and wellbeing. 73 of the participants completed this question. These answers were again analysed using thematic analysis and four distinct themes emerged. Table 8 shows the number of times these themes occurred.

Table 8. Themes identified from the analysis of open-ended survey question about what participants found to be the most helpful in supporting psychological health and wellbeing.

Theme	N	%
Connection/support	34	47
Exercise/outside	25	33
Self-care	12	15
Feeling safe	5	7

Below are some examples taken from direct quotes for each of the categories in Table 8.

47% (n = 34) of respondents reported answers that were categorised under the theme 'connection and support:

"Speaking to colleagues going through similar working life struggles, knowing I wasn't alone. Staying in touch with friends."

"Being able to connect with family and friends via facetime etc."

"Other parents and fantastic support from my youngest's SEN school, throughout the whole time. Phoning, video chats etc weekly as well as whenever required."

33% (n = 25) of respondents reported answers that were categorised under the theme of 'Exercise and Outdoors':

"Being able to access outdoor spaces" "Getting out of the house and walking" "Walking my dog" "Gardening" "Riding my horses"

16% of respondents (n = 12) reported answers that were categorised under the theme of having Self-Care routines:

"Using breathing and meditation exercises" "Listening to music" "Painting" "Baking" "Watching movies" It was noted that participants who reported having three or more coping strategies during the pandemic had a lower mean score on the AAQII (M = 12.9) which equates to a higher psychological flexibility. Those who reported only one or two coping strategies over the pandemic had a higher mean score on the AAQII (M = 21.7) which indicates a lower psychological flexibility.

#### Measures of psychological wellbeing

To measure the psychological health and wellbeing three formal measures were used. The Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale to measure general wellbeing, the Core-10 to measure signs of mental health difficulties and the Acceptance and Action Questionnaire to measure the level of psychological flexibility (see later for more detail). Table 8 shows the mean scores and standard deviations for each of the three measures.

#### Table 9. Mean scores for the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale

#### (WEMWBS), The Core-10 and The Acceptance and Action Questionnaire (AAQ-II).

	Mean	Std
WEMWBS	42.4	9.0
Core-10	13.8	6.9
AAQ-II	20.5	9.7

#### Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale

Results from the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale demonstrates that on average, respondents reported moderate levels of mental wellbeing (n= 92, *M*= 42.4, *SD*= 9.0). Higher WEMWBS scores indicate a higher level of mental wellbeing.

#### The Core-10

The sample outcomes on the Core-10 indicate that on average, respondents scored mild to moderate levels of psychological distress (n= 92, M= 13.78, SD= 6.9). 28% (n= 26) of the sample scored at a level deemed to be a moderate to severe level of psychological distress. 34 % (n= 31) were in the healthy low range and 38% (n=35) were in the mild to moderate range. Higher scores on the Core-10 indicate higher levels of general psychological distress.

#### The Acceptance and Action Questionnaire (AAQ-II)

The sample outcomes on the AAQ-II found that respondents had moderately high scores (n= 92, M= 20.5, SD= 9.7). Higher scores on this measure indicate lower levels of psychological flexibility.

The Pearson correlation coefficient was computed to assess the relationship between the Acceptance and Action Questionnaire (AAQ-II) and the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale and the Core-10. See Table 10 for the summary of output

Table 10 shows that there was a moderate to strong positive correlation between the Core-10 and AAQ-II and a moderate to strong negative correlation between the WEMBWBS and the AAQ-II.

#### Table 10. Correlation of AAQ-II to other scales

Scale	Correlation $\alpha$
Core-10 and AAQ-II	0.77
WEMBWBS and AAQ-II	-0.637

Using correlations helps to show if there is a relationship between how respondents scored on different questionnaires. Figure 1 illustrates the positive correlation between the Core-10 and the AAQ-II in a graph. It shows that those participants with higher scores on the Core-10, indicating greater levels of psychological distress, tended to have higher scores on the AAQ-II, suggesting that they also had lower levels of psychological flexibility (high scores on the AAQ-II indicate psychological inflexibility).

The negative correlation between the WEMWBS and the AAQ-II suggests the opposite. Those respondents who registered greater wellbeing on the WEMWBS tended to score low on the AAQ-II – indicating greater psychological flexibility.

A standard linear regression analysis was performed to assess the ability of the AAQ-II to predict outcomes from the Core-10. It was found that the AAQ-II significantly predicted outcomes of the Core-10 ( $\beta = \beta$ -1.068, p < [.001]).

These data suggest that those who have low psychological flexibility also tend to score high in the Core-10 (indicating they are more at risk of depression and associated issues).



Figure 1. Pearson correlation coefficient between the Core-10 and the Acceptance and Action Questionnaire (AAQ-II).

#### Summary

The survey data suggests that there is considerable psychological distress amongst the participants. The higher scores on the Core-10 indicate that a good proportion of people have experienced some form of recent psychological distress and the lower scores of the WEMBWBS indicate low levels of wellbeing. The strong negative correlation between the WEMBWBS and the AAQ-II indicate that those people who were psychologically inflexible (high scores on the AAQ-II) were more likely to have low wellbeing scores (low scores on the WEMBWBS). Those people who showed signs of mental health difficulties (high scores on the Core-10) were also more likely to be psychologically inflexible (high score on the AAQ-II).

The implications of this are that if we can help people become more psychologically flexible it may act to make them more resilient and more able to experience better wellbeing.

## **5.2 Focus group outcomes**

#### Parent focus group

From analysis of the data, five core themes emerged, each with several sub-themes, from the discussions with parents during the focus group. The themes are categorised in Table 11 below and illustrated on a Thematic Map (see Appendix C).

Themes	Sub-themes
1. Exacerbates existing	1.1 Magnifies demand of care practice
difficulties	1.2 Increased parental fatigue
	1.3 Deterioration in statutory support
	1.4 Magnifies random occurring problems
2. Creation of new problems	2.1 Impact on child with ALN
	2.2 Home schooling
	2.3 Additional housework
	2.4 Disconnect from previous supportive habits
3. Psychological distress	3.1 Surprise at psychological impact
	3.2 Increase in aversive sensations
	3.3 Disturbed behaviour patterns and thoughts
4. Positive coping	4.1 Goals
	4.2 Humour

#### Table 11. Themes and subthemes from parent focus group

	4.3 Caring role:	
	4.4 Reduced pressure	
5. Ideas for future	5.1 Access to psychological therapies	
	5.2 Supportive Network	

Examples for each are provided below.

Theme 1: Exacerbates existing difficulties

1.1 Magnifies demand of care practice

P4: "Marie and Hollie no longer get on as a result of COVID, as a result of lockdown. They're getting there. We are working bloody hard to get there, but it's been awful."

P2: "On paper, you've had a carer's assessment. The outcome was direct payment, but you can't use direct payments. But the paper trail looks good. The reality is, you've got greyer hair and you're losing the plot."

1.2 Increased parental fatigue

P3: "Oh, I'm fed up of shouting.

P1: "And in a way, it's quite exhausting 'cause we've had two years of holding it together, and now I'm like out there trying to do everything I possibly can. I'm knackered, knackered."

P4: "You know how you say you fall into a hole; I think I'm in the hole now, not at the start. I'm feeling it now."

1.3 Deterioration in statutory support

P2: "You couldn't see anybody anyway."

P3: "Flipping cars are falling apart and everything else. All the services have gone to pot, your mobility. All that lot have gone to pot, everything."

#### 1.4 Magnifies random occurring problems

P3: "My husband's disabled because a big shedload of wood fell on his leg and snapped it in two places, which that was in September 2019. And four weeks ago, he's had to have it all re-broke again because it wasn't healing. So I'm still doing it. But we just get on with it." This theme suggests that the problems that families have always had to face became even greater as a consequence of the pandemic.

Theme 2: Creation of new problems

2.1 Significant impact on child with SEN

P1: "...she stopped talking. Oh, that was quite -- yeah, she doesn't talk at school anymore, so she's got social anxiety."

P1: "My lovely little girl's back, but the damage is done, isn't it. So, yeah, we've got to work really hard in rebuilding the sibling relationship."

P2: "...she prefers to be home. I suppose it's had a major effect on her as well because wherever I go, she comes with me, doesn't she."

#### 2.2 Burden of home schooling for children with SEN

P1: "...this is what people didn't get, so you'd have schoolwork sent home, and you'd have that burden of bloody schoolwork. I don't know about you."
P3: "And there's the guilt: I don't do speech and language. And I'm a nightmare. I'm a nightmare. I have to do things. And you just get knackered, don't you."

#### 2.3 Additional housework

P1: "So you've got cooking with my two ...they'd put bowls on their heads. Well, one time it had flour in it, for Christ's sake. So, there's Marie with a bowl of flour on her head, thinking this is the funniest thing. We're all laughing. But who's tidying up? So I was doing. I'm still getting them dressed. I'm still doing their personal hygiene. You know, they're 14."

P3: "Well, that's the thing now, I hate the shops now. I can't stand it. I used to love shopping. I'd be there all the time. I can't stand it now."

#### 2.4 Disconnect from previous supportive habits

P4: "It's like you were saying you wanted to go out; I wanted to stay in, so I think I'm a bit different that, oh, I couldn't be bothered going out. Still can't now, and I think that's my problem now that, oh..."

P2: "I got very lonely, okay, because working in a group with loads of people around you, it stopped, didn't it. I did get lonely."

This theme shows that besides the old problems being magnified the pandemic brought new additional difficulties that required participant to utilises all their resources.

Theme 3: Psychological distress

3.1 Psychological surprise at its impact

P1: "and then I'd fallen in, and I just thought, I don't know how to get out of here 'cause I've never been in this hole. It's not an easy life anyway."
P3: "because I felt I couldn't cope anymore... (I use to think) I can do this, I can crack on it 'cause I'm like get on with everything. I can do anything. I'm superwoman."

P2: 'my husband, says, "Is this Mary?" because I've changed so much. I've gone, I just prefer to be at home really."

3.2 Increase in aversive sensations

- P1: "Cause that was the other thing that was big on me was guilt... I'm not doing enough. I'm not doing good enough. I'm not doing enough."
- P3: "And it was things like that feeling of nobody really giving a damn. I really thought -- and if I swear, I apologise."
- P2: "Yeah, working from home, it's lonely. It is."
- 3.3 Disturbed behaviour patterns
  - P3: "Absolutely exhausts you. And then when you go to bed, you can't sleep 'cause your brain doesn't switch off."
  - P1: "Yeah, I never had that before, never. We didn't have a sleep problem, but we do now."

P4: "I didn't leave the house for three months."

As to be expected this theme reports evidence of psychological disturbance at the level of mood, an increase in negative thinking and unpleasant physical sensations associated with increased autonomic arousal that accompanies high levels of stress.

Theme 4: Positive coping

1.1 Goals

P2: "And that was doable. *So, when I had something, a focus, I managed my stress really very well.* So that wasn't too bad."

P1: "I would go out at 7 o'clock in the first bit. So, I didn't mind it then, you know, in the beautiful weather, and it would be out and on my bike."

#### 1.2 Humour

P1: "Bloody hell. Liz's humour has at times really helped. She doesn't always know *it, but your humour is...*"

#### 1.3 Caring role

P2: "I quite enjoyed aspects of the activities I did with them both. Some of them were fun. There was a lot of laughter. And I think you forget that we did have a lot of laughter. And I think the lack of stress of having to engage with the world around us."

#### 1.4 Reduced pressure

P1: "And we were seen on time, without the nightmare of an hour waiting with Marie going through the roof. So, yeah, when it worked..."
P2: "Something I noticed as well, and it was a lot less stressful, your appointments, hospital appointments."

This theme shows that no matter how much stress parents experience, they are also capable of finding positives in their predicament.

Theme 5: Ideas for future

5.1 Access to psychological therapies available for parents and siblings

P4: "I truly, truly believe in CBT. And I do think everybody should be offered it, regardless of whether they want it or not."

#### 5.2 Supportive networks

P3: "If you're going to sit and chat to people, you need to have friends there and other people that you can always lean on again if you need to."

P3: "I'd do something like that if it was in a field, couple of tents, couple of families around all sat around a field. Let's do it that way. At least then it's nice instead of just sitting in a room like this, chit-chatting about crap that's never going to change."

Finally, this theme shows that the parent group had some very useful ideas for future developments to help other parents and family carers.

#### Staff focus group

From analysis of the data, four core themes, each with their own sub-themes, emerged from the discussions with staff during the focus group. The themes are categorised in Table 12 on the next page and illustrated on a Thematic Map (see Appendix D).

Themes	Sub-themes	
1. Psychological adjustment/	1.1	Disconnect
altered states	1.2	Exacerbation
	1.3	Mood and motivation
	1.4	Worry
2. Additional burden	2.1	Workload
	2.2	Colleague inconsistency
	2.3	Challenging behaviour
	2.4	Forced change
3. Maintenance and positive	3.1	Interaction with pupils
coping	3.2	Nourishing activities
	3.3	Family
	3.4	Change of focus
4. Ideas for the future	4.1	Developing accessible tool kit
	4.2	Guidance

Table 12. Themes and subthemes from staff focus group

Theme 1: Psychological adjustment/ altered states

1.1 Exacerbation: (When a teacher referenced old problems becoming even bigger ones)

P1: "... but because when the pandemic all started, but then 'cause of a health condition, I wasn't allowed to work, so that just knocked me."

1.2 Mood and motivation: (This refers to change in mood and a loss of motivation)

P2: "But I think my sense of who I was as a teacher has... And I think I've been in a fog; I'll be honest with you. I think I've been in a fog for the last two years."

P3: "Yeah, for me with the confidence thing, if we're talking about actually teaching, it was that struggle of actually all of a sudden we were expected to do."

P2: "Cause I do wonder how much longer am I going to go on, you know, having wobbly days and feeling very flat."

P5: "But you couldn't grieve in the same way because you couldn't have a proper funeral. I think all that is still kind of going around in my head, if I'm honest, yeah. So, it was a tough time."

1.4 Worry: (This covers unhelpful self-judgments and anticipation of problems)

P4: "And again, what L said about starting to compare yourselves with other teachers. Some teachers are flying with it and doing all this and Team Live lessons, and I'm thinking, you know, what are the expectations here? How much am I meant to do?"

P3: "When we came back in September, there was quite a lot of people that had gone or planning to go. I felt quite insecure. I felt really insecure."

P5: "I'm in a completely different class, and they're in your face, basically. So, you know, it's having to manage all that as well. You know, there is a worry there all the time."

P4: "...'cause there's nothing I can do about whatever the situation is that's worrying me in the class."

P2: "Yeah. And I'm standing there in class and thinking, I can't do that, I can't do that, I can't do that. There was no point me being there. It was crazy."

P5:"And you sort of felt like here in particular and for us TAs, (teaching assistants) for some of us because we're sort of perhaps in some respects, and I'm not saying you're not, but a bit more hands-on with the children when you talk about toileting, wiping noses, all the stuff that you are at more risk."

P4: "...my parents were elderly, and that was my biggest worry. And, okay, we were off for ages, and then we came back in in dribs and drabs, didn't we, and it was really quite scary because I couldn't go and see them. I couldn't do anything for them."

This theme captures a wide range of experiences all related to psychological distress and problems with adjustment.

Theme 2: Additional burden

2.1 Workload: (Having to take on more things)

P3: "So, we were doing that, but then we were expected to do the technology side as well, so it was like double workload. And it was just so draining because I am not a techy person, and I really struggled with that."

P2: "And the week before, maybe your class would have closed down, but this week, it might have changed, it's different. So, you're always like, oh, okay. But last week, it meant something, but this week, it doesn't. What's the difference, you know?"

P6: "I think just parents' expectation. So, I think at the beginning, it was a massive grey area of what parents were asking teachers and teaching staff to do. So, you'd hear about teachers getting phone calls at 9 o'clock at night because that's the only time the parents could get hold of you."

2.2 Colleague inconsistency: (new staff need training/ who then contribute to inconsistencies)

P4: "And then the impact of those inconsistencies in staff if you've got different staff coming in."

P5: "And, yes, people have to be trained, but it was a lot of people, so it takes a while. And then you sort of feel like you'll take it on, won't you, 'cause you can't put them into new situations, if you see what you mean..."

2.3 Challenging behaviour: (children presenting with increased CB and emotional distress)

P5: "And at the same time, the numbers of children coming in are going up and up and up. So, you know, that itself is quite stressful." P6: "And then when things sort of got a bit more normality, then the behaviours were spiking."

2.4 Forced change: (Loss of valued colleagues and informal support structure and Impact of PPE)

P6: "...just seeing the word "grief", I think that's probably the right word, actually, the certain for loss for some of the colleagues that we've all worked with that have left." P3: "the practicality of having to wear one of these (face masks). And when you've got a child that's got a severe HI, and most of your face is covered up. And what they rely on looking at is your expression on your face."

This theme captures the increase and variety of demands placed on teachers during the pandemic.

Theme 3: Maintenance and positive coping

3.1 Interaction with pupils: (Benefits of working with the children)

P3: "But, you know, I still had the day to day with the young people, which was the bit that I love, and that's why I do the job I do."

3.2 Nourishing activities: (e.g. Things outside of school that helped)

P3: "Yeah, exercise for me as well."

P4: "Big add for exercise. Fresh air, exercise, and family, you know, time with your own family. We're always outdoors, walking the mountains."

P6: "'Cause I kind of was flagging towards the tail end of... before we broke up for the summer holidays. So for the first time, I had a focus. And we were every week, weren't we."

P3: "Singing. I'm a great advocate of singing. Yeah, sorry. Anybody that works in my class or has worked in my class knows."

P5: "No, I agree. I sing a lot more now with my new class. It's great. I love it."

3.3 Family (having greater access to one's family)

P4: "...you know, time with your own family. We're always outdoors, walking the mountains."

3.4 Change focus: (change the focus of thinking from being class focused to home life)

P4: "...we all care so much about the pupils that at night sometimes, I'll wake up, and the first thing I think of is something that's happening in the class. I'm trying now to have different strategies and start thinking of something positive, you know, something that my own children are currently doing and trying to switch that head on when I wake up in the middle of the night."

This important theme lists examples of things individuals used to help them cope.

Theme 4: Ideas for the future

3.4 Develop accessible toolkit (suggestion to develop a new resource)

P3: "And it would be nice to have something in your toolkit that said, right, if I can just turn to this as (a) reference, and maybe... this would help me to work through how I'm feeling. 'Cause it's just been such a muddle. And, you know, people who've been doing the job years or people that have been doing the job a couple of years or whatever, they all feel in a muddle, yeah."

1.1 Guidance: (More structured guidance in how to teach / navigate pupils through the problems they face).

P3: "But then there was some families where you didn't see the child for months and months and months, and then you knew that they were struggling... but that was difficult, I think, the fact that the provision was very limited."

P2: "And I think their needs are increased. I think COVID has had an impact on the way some of the children behave, you know."

P6: "Well, there was less demands for a long time. And then when things sort of got a bit more normality, then the behaviours were spiking. So, it's been very up and down, I think, the whole way through."

This theme offers two practical ideas for supporting teachers in the future. Although these ideas emerged from the pandemic, they are relevant for promoting wellbeing and have a wide applicability.

#### Summary of focus group findings

The advantage of using qualitative data is that it offers a way of capturing the experience of participants. Figure 2 summarises the themes and sub-themes under four main headings that capture the purpose of the focus groups: (1) to investigate the personal impact of the pandemic (2) to describe the stressors that developed as a consequence of the pandemic (3) to investigate whether there was evidence of positive coping and (4) to identify ideas to promote recovery and growth in the future. The themes from the parent groups are written in blue and the themes from the staff groups are written in red. Each theme is surrounded by its sub-themes.



Figure 2. Themes and sub-themes for parent and school staff group

In column 1, Psychological Impact, it can be seen that both groups are describing recognisable distress but there would appear to be a difference in degree. The parents group report an increase in distressing physiological sensations and negative thinking, reporting a sense of 'guilt' and thoughts of 'not ever doing enough'. There were also reports of disturbance in resilient behaviour such as lack of sleep and not leaving the house for three months. The final sub-theme for the parent group captures the surprise and shock of the impact of lockdown. Many parents are highly active in their support of their family, so the surprise of not being able to fulfil this role to a previous standard must be extremely unsettling. This is captured perfectly by *P3 who had described herself as "superwoman... I can do anything" but was left thinking "I felt I couldn't cope anymore*".

The school staff on the other hand report less impactful but nevertheless, still unsettling experiences. They report feeling an increased sense of worry and self-doubt about meeting this new challenge and in making unhelpful comparisons with themselves against colleagues.

The second column in Figure 2, Increase in Stressors, captures the aggregate of additional demands caused by COVID. A key feature for the parent group was fatigue, which appeared to be rooted in multiple sources. These include services failing to help, increased workload of offering home tuition, and the additional housework that resulted from running homebased classes in subjects such as cooking and painting etc. There was an additional care burden in responding to their child's challenging behaviour on top of having to deal with daily care practices and unpredictable extra emergencies that occurred from time to time. The school staff had to accommodate an additional workload and change, due to valued colleagues leaving and being replaced by new staff who required induction time before they were able to help. In the meantime, there were additional challenges of inconsistencies in the staff team which had a negative impact on the children's behaviour. Inevitably there was more disruptive and challenging behaviour from some of the children.

Both groups were able to describe examples of positive experiences during lockdown that helped them to cope, captured in the third column in Figure 2, titled Positive Coping. Both the parent and school staff groups identified time spent with the children as important and positive which reflects studies that highlight the benefits of caring for a child with a disability (Griffith and Hastings, 2013). Parents deployed a range of personal strategies such as having goals and drawing on their own, and other parents', sense of humour. It was also agreed that lockdown had some unexpected benefits for those who require regular and frequent medical appointments. For example, clear roads and not having to wait for appointments.

The school staff were able to make investments in a range of nourishing activities, such as exercise, accessing the outdoors, and singing. There was also an opportunity to reinvest time with close family. There was even a sub-theme described as 'change of focus' which described a switch in thinking and attention, as teachers moved the focus of their concerns from their work in school to the welfare of their own family.

Finally, both groups were able to offer several ideas for promoting resilience, listed in column four in Figure 2, titled Ideas for the Future. The parent group offered an interpersonal perspective and the need to generate and protect networks of support created through the school. This suggestion was voiced in opposition to the second suggestion which advocated offering family carers access to psychological therapy. The opposition came because such therapies focus on talking when, it was argued, parents need practical and social support. The school staff also suggested the need for help. They proposed the development of clear instructions to help them understand the psychological process of losing one's motivation or 'mojo' and practical information about what to do with the children in similar circumstances.

# 6. Conclusions and limitations

## 6.1 Summary of findings

This report offers an opportunity to describe the impact of COVID on a group who provide the care and education of children with ALN by addressing three questions.

1. How has the pandemic impacted on the wellbeing of family carers and teaching staff of children attending special schools in Wales?

The survey data suggests that the wellbeing of participants may have been compromised with some people displaying signs of low-level mental health problems, poor levels of wellbeing and both focus groups provide examples of personal experience of psychological distress. By itself this is unremarkable, given that a UK survey in 2014 found one in six adults (17 per cent) met the criteria for a common mental disorder (McManus et al., 2016). The benefit of using qualitative data is that participants were asked about how COVID had impacted their lives, and it was clear from their answers that it had done so in a negative way.

2. Can psychological flexibility help to understand the wellbeing of family carers and teaching staff of children attending special schools in Wales?

The current data did find a relationship between psychological flexibility and positive wellbeing. Positive wellbeing scores, as recorded on the WEMWBS, correlate with psychological flexibility and scores that indicate mild mental health problems, as recorded on the CORE-10, correlate with low psychological flexibility. This supports previous findings (Hayes et al., 2004; Masuda et al, 2007; Lloyd et al., 2013) of the relationship between positive mental health and psychological flexibility. There are also ad hoc findings that suggest that those participants who were able to describe three activities that promote coping were more likely to be more psychologically flexible.

Although individuals may have found the experience of lockdown difficult, there were clear examples of adaption and positive coping. Time spent with the young person, setting personal goals, and drawing on humour were examples shared by both groups of positive experiences.

3. How feasible would it be to deliver a school-based intervention that would promote better wellbeing in family carers and school staff using evidence-based approaches?

To help understand the implications of the data, Figure 3 sets out a process model to describe the experience of family carers and school staff. Both focus groups report challenging and enriching experiences. The model therefore proposes that all experience can be categorised as one of three alternatives, either values based and enriching or challenging and demanding or alternatively, something that has a neutral impact. The question is, is it possible to respond to challenging events and not be depleted?





The model is an integration of the Transactional Model of Stress (Lazarus and Folkman, 1984) and Psychological Flexibility (Hayes et al., 2006). The Transactional Model describes how an individual interacts with their experience via a primary appraisal of whether something is deemed threatening, neutral or potentially nourishing. Whether something is ultimately considered stressful is dependent on a secondary cognitive appraisal as to whether the event will exceed personal resources and endanger wellbeing (Lazarus and Folkman, 1984).

In Figure 3, the secondary cognitive appraisal stage has been expanded to include core processes that accompany psychological flexibility and an opportunity for positive change, sometimes referred to as a choice point. Whether the impact of a negative event produces a prolonged negative response or a shorter more resilient one, therefore comes down to two things. The first is to do with thinking. If after a negative event a person starts to believe negative assumptions about themselves, such as, "it never works out for me", or "I'm usefulness at this", they have become entangled with their thoughts and may act as if they are a true representation of the world. On the other hand, if a person is able to step back and view any thought as a temporary occurrence and not a true picture of how things are, then they have disentangled from their thoughts and are not burdened by the disadvantages of such a negative outlook.

The second step is whether a person ends up choosing to avoid their experience or actively seeks out opportunities that bring them into contact with valued activities. This is illustrated in Figure 3 by the two large arrows. Avoidance, whether it be of one's own unpleasant emotions or actions, can take up resources that take a person away from activities that are needed to replenish them. For example, after a difficult day at school, a teacher may be left believing that they are not very good at their job and feel that they don't want to meet up with friends that evening. Yet it is these friendships that are a source of renewal and energy. If the teacher ends up avoiding this opportunity and stays at home rerunning memories of negative events that reconfirm their beliefs about themselves, they miss the opportunity of a

value-based activity and end up in a worst state. In the morning they may be more depleted and less likely to be available to positive things that may happen in school.

Psychological flexibility (Hayes et al., 2006) shares the perspective of all modern Cognitive and Behavioural Therapies (CBT) that a habit of appraising events negatively, together with avoidant behavioural strategies can create a toxic mix that can lead to a negative narrative about one's life (Hayes and Hoffman, 2018; Hayes, 2019). Thoughts such as "*I'm not happy" or "Life's always hard"* are often accompanied by a subjective, adverse emotional climate (such as sadness or agitation or both). This creates a harmful combination where negative emotions promote more negative thinking and negative thinking generates more negative emotions. A psychological flexibility model brings the additional focus onto the importance of living a life in accordance with core values. In particular, how some coping strategies that have short term benefits may end up reducing opportunities to invest time in value-based activities ultimately leave a person worse off. Besides being an empirically supported theory, psychological flexibility offers pragmatic ideas for promoting positive change (Hayes et al., 2006).

Considerable agreement now exists regarding what is required for a person to achieve a sense of wellbeing. Appraising things in a way that leads to positive emotions and offers meaning and a sense of achievement has been identified by Seligman (2011) as a core part of flourishing and most authors agree of the importance of a lifestyle that connects people with their values (Heapy, et al., 2018; Vyskocilova et al., 2018; Twohig and Crosby, 2008). Figure 3 captures this as part of a virtuous cycle that can lead to a more positive narrative about one's life and a positive emotional climate and sense of wellbeing.

The purpose of presenting such a model is to describe the normal psychological dynamic that would have existed before the pandemic took its toll. Figure 4 (see below) is an attempt to show what may have happened to that dynamic with the impact of COVID. The data from this study is clear that one big impact was the reduction in the availability of activities that had previously been a source of psychological nourishment and, at the same time, there was an increase in challenging experiences. Both focus groups describe either additional burdens (the school staff group described increased workload, problems of inconsistencies from the new staff, more challenges from the children and the heavy burden of having to use PPE) or the creation of new problems (the parents group described a wide range of extra demands due to home schooling, including greater demands around housework, the loss of important supports and a deleterious impact on their child).

The dotted red box in Figure 4 denotes processes implicated in psychological inflexibility. Although it seems reasonable to assume that the period of COVID correlates with an increase in negative appraisal of events, this may only be part of the story. Within the dotted red box, the two main contributors to psychological inflexibility, becoming entangled with thoughts and avoidant action have been highlighted in bold. There was evidence that participants in the focus groups had become entangled with their thoughts. This was both at the level of appraising external events, as P3 put it: *"Flipping cars are falling apart and everything else. All the services have gone to pot, your mobility. All that lot have gone to pot, everything"*, or at a personal self-evaluation, as expressed by P2: *"Cause that was the other thing that was big on me was guilt... I'm not doing enough. I'm not doing good enough. I'm not doing enough."* 



#### Figure 4. Possible psychological dynamic during COVID pandemic

In these examples, both parents express generalities that imply extensive and excessive problems. The first depicts services that no longer operate effectively and the second represents continuing failure. Both examples, if taken literally, could generate a sense of hopelessness and even despair if they are believed to be true. Yet if the parents learn to view these thoughts as a representation of a temporary situation or the product of a temporary emotional account, then the result could be different and allow greater flexibility in how they might respond. This is one of the benefits of mindfulness, where school staff and parents could acquire practical techniques to disentangle from unhelpful thoughts.

The second key component of psychological inflexibility is the attempt to avoid experience. This may lead to avoiding external events and inadvertently miss out on nourishing activities. An example of this was expressed by P1: "Well, that's the thing now, I hate the shops now. I can't stand it. I used to love shopping. I'd be there all the time. I can't stand it now" and by P4 "I didn't leave the house for three months."

Figure 4 helps to show that failing to invest in activities and events that replenish psychological resources, such as social contacts or hobbies that bring a sense of accomplishment and satisfaction, will likely contribute to being depleted. The development of avoidant habits and preoccupation with unhelpful thinking may act to diminish motivation and drive for such activities.

## 6.2 Limitations

The greatest limitation of this study was sample size. The target population were teachers from primary, middle, secondary and special educational needs (SEN) schools across Wales with a matched number of family carers of children with ALN who attended the SEN schools in Wales. The proportion of parents and family cares was considerably lower than teachers. In total, there are 40 SEN schools across the whole of Wales, and all were invited to take part in the study. Although there was not an option for participants to identify their specific school's name in the survey, participants could report which county their school is in. Regionally, there was a disproportionate split between the north, south and mid-Wales, accounting for n=71, n=19 and n=3, respectively.

In spite of our best attempts to recruit a representative sample of teachers and parent carers from across Wales to take part in focus groups, we only achieved a subsample of participation from north Wales. The focus groups comprised of n=12 teachers and n=4 parent/carers. There was also a strong gender bias, and it remains to be seen whether a more representative sample of male teachers and parents would have produced different conclusions. However, despite the small sample size, we collected a range of experiences from participants that provided a wealth of rich information.

## 6.3 Recommendations

What can be done to help school staff and family carers of children with ALN? An obvious plan is to invest in education and support that helps both groups become more psychologically flexible to the challenges that occur in their life. This might involve sharing information about evidence-based principles for promoting wellbeing. A review undertaken by the New Economics Foundation (2008) of the wellbeing literature, identified five key activities that related to promoting psychological health. Since that publication these ideas have been further developed into six behaviours (see, Baskarod, 2019) that can be summarised as follows:

- (1) Connecting with others having healthy social relationships.
- (2) Challenging oneself making personal investment to continually improve via learning.
- (3) Giving to others spending time and resources helping our fellow human beings and being caring towards our planet.
- (4) Exercising –engaging in physical activity.
- (5) Embracing the moment mindfully interacting with our thoughts and feelings without judgement.
- (6) Self-care looking after oneself, through basic things such as healthy eating and improved sleep quality.

Figure 5 is an attempt to show the different levels of intervention that may be necessary to influence change to promote greater psychological flexibility in a school community of children with ALN. Many schools already provide opportunities for family carers to meet and

gain informal support. One proposal is to help schools to frame and expand this current practice to take on the role of a community hub where information could be shared and learning opportunities could be coordinated. Existing activities that require family carers to give up their time, to collaborate with each other in such things as coffee mornings, walking groups, electric bike sessions, etc., would fulfil half of the six ways to wellbeing (giving, interacting with others and being active). There is clearly a platform to build upon. As a community hub, the school would be able to coordinate existing activities and frame them as opportunities for investing in the six ways to wellbeing.



#### Figure 5. Possible levels of intervention to promote greater psychological flexibility in

#### a school community of children with ALN

We propose that wellbeing should be addressed at a systemic, community level with a school acting as a hub, utilising available structures and resources. To do this would require three steps that could be piloted in one or two schools

The first is a coordinated communication strategy that would help everyone understand the basic principles of self-care. One way to achieve this would be through the development of a co-produced, highly interactive, eLearning course that sets out, in a clear and practical way, how to foster better psychological wellbeing. The eLearning would use multi-media and be accessible on a smart phone. It would offer practical examples and invite each participant to reflect on how psychologically flexible or inflexible they are and what they may choose to do about it. If salient information was broken into accessible chunks, it could be completed at a convenient time within a manageable timeframe. This would provide a shared understanding of the psychological processes of stress to a whole community with the shared goal of creating a more nurturing environment (Biglan et al. 2012). A key feature of a nurturing environment as defined by Biglan et al. (2012) is to create a functioning system that promotes the development of each individual and attempts to remove toxic events (such as stress) that inhibit personal growth. A prototype of these ideas is currently under development by the authors.

For an example of the current prototype under development click on the following link:

#### Link to prototype

The second step would be to supplement the eLearning with the offer of introductory, face to face workshops. This would help to cement motivation for the project and clarify core concepts. It would be an opportunity to distribute additional materials, such as a workbook, that could be used in addition to the eLearning, to aid self-reflection, personal goal setting and self-monitoring – for those who wished to. Once established the authors would advocate the development of a training the trainers' model so a lead person within the school could deliver the workshops.

The third step is an investment in training a group of family carers to become trainers of other parents in how to become more psychologically flexible through Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT). Several studies have shown that it is possible to reduce the levels of stress in parents of children with ALN through the delivery of ACT workshops (Fung et al., 2018; Gould et al., 2018). A group in Toronto have demonstrated that parents can operate effectively as co-facilitators to deliver these workshops to other parents (Fung et al., 2018). This has the potential for generating co-production projects that recognise the expertise of family carers and support the school as a community hub. ACT works by helping to clarify the core values that an individual believes is necessary for a meaningful and fulfilled life. It offers skills to become better at noticing the transitory nature of thoughts and how to disentangle from those that are domineering and unhelpful. Such an

of thoughts and how to disentangle from those that are domineering and unhelpful. Such an investment may help to disseminate important skills to a wider audience. It would also help to make an investment in those family carers who already have a wide range of skills and who are experts by experience.

These recommendations link with a number of important Welsh Government policy documents. For example, the overarching premise to strengthen the psychological flexibility of staff and family carers within a school community links well with Priority 1 of *Review of the Together for Mental Health Delivery Plan 2019-2022 in Response to Covid-19* (Welsh Government, 2020): to improve mental health and well-being and reduce inequalities through a focus on strengthening protective factors (p.12). Equally, the proposal to develop a co-produced, eLearning course to foster psychological wellbeing and a 'train the trainer' model of delivery and dissemination across a school community aligns closely with objective 2: 'strengthening co-production and supporting carers' (p.6). More broadly, the aim of this project aligns with the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act (2015) (WFG Act), which aims to sustainably improve the social, economic, environmental, and cultural well-being of Wales. In particular, with the seven '*well-being goals*' and the '*five ways of working*': collaboration, integration, involvement, long-term, and prevention (p.6).

In conclusion, for all the negative impact of COVID it also provided an opportunity to develop a shared understanding about human vulnerability and the challenges facing family carers and school staff of children with ALN. It is very easy for anyone to 'fall into a hole", as one of the parents so eloquently put it. Yet there is a rich literature waiting to be applied in school settings about what can be done to create a more nurturing environment (Biglan et al., 2012) that stops people falling into the hole, as well as offering practical ways of getting out. Cultivating a shared understanding of what stress is and what we can do about it, across the whole of a community attached to a school, would seem to be worthy of further investigation.

# Appendix A

#### Parent interview schedule

- 1. In your own words how would you describe the impact of COVID on your own wellbeing?
- 2. Have you been more stressed since the start of the pandemic?
- 3. What was the impact on family members?
- 4. What have you found to be helpful during this period?
- 5. What do think would have helped you during this time?
- 6. Do you make any investments into you own health and wellbeing?
- 7. Could you provide some detail?
- 8. How would you explain what stress is?
- 9. What do you think people need to do to help them become more resilient to stress?\*
- 10. Would you be interested in investing some time in learning new ways to help cope better with stress?
- 11. Practically speaking, how much time would you or could you be willing to give to learn how to deal with stress better? \*
- 12. What practical support might you need to be able to achieve this? \*
- 13. Have you got any thoughts, comments or questions based on anything you have heard so far?

\* These questions were not asked because parents had addressed these issues without prompts.

# Appendix B

Staff interview schedule

- 1. In your own words how would you describe the impact of COVID on your own wellbeing?
- 2. Have you been more stressed since the start of the pandemic?
- 3. What was the impact on family members?
- 4. What have you found to be helpful during this period?
- 5. What do think would have helped you during this time?
- 6. Do you make any investments into you own health and wellbeing?
- 7. Could you provide some detail?
- 8. How would you explain what stress is?
- 9. What do you think people need to do to help them become more resilient to stress?
- 10. Would you be interested in investing some time in learning new ways to help cope better with stress?
- 11. Practically speaking, how much time would you or could you be willing to give to learn how to deal with stress better?
- 12. What practical support might you need to be able to achieve this?
- 13. Have you got any thoughts, comments or questions based on anything you have heard so far?

All questions were asked in this order

# Appendix C

### Parent Thematic Map



# Appendix D

Staff Thematic Map



## References

- Agarwal, P., Kaushik, A., Sarkar, S, Rao, D., Mukherjee, N., Bharat, V., Das, S. and Saha,
   A. K. (2021). Global survey-based assessment of lifestyle changes during the
   COVID-19 pandemic. *PLoS ONE* 16(8), e0255399. DOI:
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0255399">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0255399</a>.
- Albrecht, S.F., Johns, B.H., Mounsteven, J. and Olorunda, O. (2009). Working conditions as risk or resiliency factors for teachers of students with emotional and behavioral disabilities. *Psychology in the Schools*, 46(10), pp.1006-1022. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20440</u>.
- American Psychiatric Association, D.S. and American Psychiatric Association. (2013).
   *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders*: DSM-5 (Vol. 5). Washington,
   DC: American psychiatric association.
- Baker, B.L., McIntyre, L.L., Blacher, J., Crnic, K., Edelbrock, C. and Low, C. (2003). Preschool children with and without developmental delay: behaviour problems and parenting stress over time. *Journal of intellectual disability research*, 47(4-5), pp.217-230. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2788.2003.00484</u>.
- Barkham, M., Bewick, B., Mullin, T., Gilbody, S., Connell, J., Cahill, J., Mellor-Clark, J., Richards, D., Unsworth, G. and Evans, C. (2013). The CORE-10: A short measure of psychological distress for routine use in the psychological therapies. *Counselling and Psychotherapy Research*, 13(1), 3-13. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14733145.2012.729069</u>.
- Bethay, J.S., Wilson, K.G., Schnetzer, L.W., Nassar, S.L. and Bordieri, M.J. (2013). A controlled pilot evaluation of acceptance and commitment training for intellectual disability staff. *Mindfulness*, 4(2), pp.113-121. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-012-0103-8</u>
- Bettini, E., Jones, N., Brownell, M., Conroy, M., Park, Y., Leite, W., Crockett, J. and Benedict, A. (2017). Workload manageability among novice special and general educators: Relationships with emotional exhaustion and career intentions. *Remedial and Special Education*, 38(4), pp.246-256. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932517708327</u>.

- Biglan, A., Flay, B.R., Embry, D.D., Sandler, I.N. (2012). The critical role of nurturing environments for promoting human well-being. *American Psychologist*, 67(4), pp. 257-271. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026796</u>.
- Bowring, D.L., Totsika, V., Hastings, R.P., Toogood, S. and Griffith, G.M. (2017). Challenging behaviours in adults with an intellectual disability: A total population study and exploration of risk indices. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 56(1), pp.16-32. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjc.12118</u>.
- Boyatzis, R.E. (1998). *Transforming qualitative information: Thematic analysis and code development*. Sage.
- Braun, V. and Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*, 3(2), pp.77-101. DOI: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp0630a">https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp0630a</a>.
- Brittle, B. (2020). Coping strategies and burnout in staff working with students with special educational needs and disabilities. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 87, pp.1-8. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.102937</u>.
- Burton, C.L. and Bonanno, G.A. (2016). Measuring ability to enhance and suppress emotional expression: The Flexible Regulation of Emotional Expression (FREE) Scale. *Psychological assessment*, 28(8), pp.1-13. DOI: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/pas0000231</u>.
- Cancio, E.J. and Conderman, G. (2008). Promoting Longevity: Strategies for Teachers of Students with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders. *Beyond Behavior*, 17(3), pp.30-36.
- Cancio, E.J., Larsen, R., Mathur, S.R., Estes, M.B., Johns, B. and Chang, M. (2018). Special education teacher stress: Coping strategies. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 41(4), pp.457-481. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/etc.2018.0025</u>.
- Crnic, K.A., Neece, C.L., McIntyre, L.L., Blacher, J. and Baker, B.L. (2017). Intellectual disability and developmental risk: Promoting intervention to improve child and family well-being. *Child development*, 88(2), pp.436-445. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12740</u>.

Department for Education (DfE). (2018). *Special educational needs: An analysis and summary of data sources*. Available at:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm ent\_data/file/1082518/Special\_educational\_needs\_publication\_June\_2022.pdf.

- Department of Health (DoH). (2014). *Positive and Proactive Care: Reducing the need for restrictive interventions*. Available at: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm</u> <u>ent\_data/file/300293/JRA\_DoH\_Guidance\_on\_RP\_web\_accessible.pdf</u>.
- Embich, J.L. (2001). The relationship of secondary special education teachers' roles and factors that lead to professional burnout. *Teacher education and special education*, 24(1), pp.58-69. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/088840640102400109</u>.
- Emerson, E. (2010). Self-reported exposure to disablism is associated with poorer selfreported health and well-being among adults with intellectual disabilities in England: A cross-sectional survey. *Public Health*, 124(12), pp.682-689. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2010.08.020</u>.
- Emerson, E. and Hatton, C. (2007). Mental health of children and adolescents with intellectual disabilities in Britain. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 191(6), pp.493-499. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2010.08.020</u>.
- Evans, C., Mellor-Clark, J., Margison, F., Barkham, M., Audin, K., Connell, J. and McGrath, G. (2000). <u>CORE: Clinical Outcomes in Routine Evaluation.</u> Journal of Mental Health, 9(3), 247–255. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/jmh.9.3.247.255</u>.
- Flynn, S., Hastings, R.P., Gillespie, D., McNamara, R. and Randell, E. (2018). Is the amount of exposure to aggressive challenging behaviour related to staff work-related wellbeing in intellectual disability services? Evidence from a clustered research design. *Research in developmental disabilities*, 81, pp.155-161. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2018.04.006</u>.
- Fung, K., Lake, J., Steel, L., Bryce, K., and Lunsky, Y. (2018). ACT processes in group intervention for mothers of children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism* and Developmental Disorders, 48(8), 2740–2747. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3525-x</u>.

- George, N.L., George, M.P., Gersten, R. and Grosenick, J.K. (1995). To leave or to stay?
   An exploratory study of teachers of students with emotional and behavioral disorders.
   *Remedial and special education*, 16(4), pp.227-236. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/074193259501600.
- Gould, E. R., Tarbox, J. and Coyne, L. (2018). Evaluating the effects of Acceptance and Commitment Training on the overt behavior of parents of children with autism. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 7, pp.81–88. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2017.06.003.</u>
- Guralnick, M. J. (2011). Why early intervention works: A systems perspective. *Infants and Young Children*, 24(1), pp.6–28. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/IYC.0b013e3182002cfe</u>.
- Guralnick, M.J. (2017). Early Intervention for Children with Intellectual Disabilities: An
   Update. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 30(2), pp 211-229.
   DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12233</u>.
- Hämeenaho, P. (2016). Tieto, valta ja vastuu erityislasten hoidossa. *Elore*, 23(2). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.30666/elore.79256</u>
- Hastings, R.P. (2002). Do challenging behaviors affect staff psychological well-being?
  Issues of causality and mechanism. *American Journal of Mental Retardation*, 107(6), pp.455-67. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1352/0895-</u>
  <u>8017(2002)107<0455:DCBASP>2.0.CO;2</u>.
- Hastings, R.P. and Brown, T. (2002). Coping strategies and the impact of challenging behaviors on special educators' burnout. *Mental retardation*, 40(2), pp.148-156. DOI: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1352/0047-6765(2002)040<0148:CSATIO>2.0.CO;2">https://doi.org/10.1352/0047-6765(2002)040<0148:CSATIO>2.0.CO;2</a>.
- Hastings, R. P., Allen, D., Baker, P., Gore, N. J., Hughes, J. C., McGill, P., Noone, S. J., Toogood, S. (2013) A conceptual framework for understanding why challenging behaviours occur in people with developmental disabilities. International Journal of Positive Behavioural Support 3, 5–13.
- Hatton, C., Rivers, M., Mason, H., Mason, L., Kiernan, C., Emerson, E., Alborz, A. and Reeves, D. (1999). Staff stressors and staff outcomes in services for adults with

intellectual disabilities: The Staff Stressor Questionnaire. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 20(4), 269–285. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0891-4222(99)00009-8</u>.

Hayes, S. (2019). A Liberated Mind: How to Pivot Toward What Matters. New York: Avery.

- Hayes, S. C. and Hofmann, S.G. (2018). (eds.). *Process-based CBT: The science and core clinical competencies of cognitive behavioral therapy.* New Harbinger Publications, Inc.
- Hayes, S.C., Levin, M.E., Plumb-Vilardaga, J., Villatte, J.L., & Pistorello, J. (2013).
  Acceptance and commitment therapy and contextual behavioral science: Examining the progress of a distinctive model of behavioral and cognitive therapy. *Behavior Therapy*, 44, 2, 180-198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2009.08.002</u>
- Hayes, S.C., Luoma, J.B., Bond, F.W., Masuda, A. and Lillis, J. (2006). Acceptance and commitment therapy: Model, processes and outcomes. *Behaviour research and therapy*, 44(1), pp.1-25. Available at: <u>https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/psych\_facpub/101</u>.
- Hayes, S.C., Bissett, R., Roget, N., Padilla, M., Kohlenberg, B.S., Fisher, G., Masuda, A., Pistorello, J., Rye, A.K., Berry, K. and Niccolls, R. (2004). The impact of acceptance and commitment training and multicultural training on the stigmatizing attitudes and professional burnout of substance abuse counselors. *Behavior therapy*, 35(4), pp.821-835. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-7894(04)80022-4.</u>
- Heapy, A. A., Wandner, L., Driscoll, M. A., LaChappelle, K., Czlapinski, R., Fenton, B. T., Piette, J.D., Aikens, J.E., Janevic, M.R. and Kerns, R. D. (2018). Developing a typology of patient-generated behavioral goals for cognitive behavioral therapy for chronic pain (CBT-CP): Classification and predicting outcomes. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 41(2), 174-185. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-017-9885-4</u>.
- Kaff, M.S. (2004). Multitasking is multi taxing: Why special educators are leaving the field. *Preventing school failure*, 48(2), p.10-17. Available at: <u>https://www.proquest.com/docview/228545698/fulltextPDF/2E7A10DA73814761PQ/1?accountid=14874</u>.

- Kashdan, T.B., Barrios, V., Forsyth, J.P. and Steger, M.F. (2006). Experiential avoidance as a generalized psychological vulnerability: Comparisons with coping and emotion regulation strategies. *Behaviour research and therapy*, 44(9), pp.1301-1320. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2005.10.003.
- Katsiyannis, A., Zhang, D. and Conroy, M.A. (2003). Availability of special education teachers: Trends and issues. *Remedial and special education*, 24(4), pp.246-253.
   DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/07419325030240040701.
- Kurasaki, K. S. (2000). Intercoder reliability for validating conclusions drawn from openended interview data. *Field Methods*, 12(3), pp.179-194. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X0001200301</u>.
- Kurz, A.S., Bethay, J.S. and Ladner-Graham, J.M. (2014). Mediating the relation between workplace stressors and distress in ID support staff: Comparison between the roles of psychological inflexibility and coping styles. *Research in developmental disabilities*, 35(10), pp.2359-2370. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2014.06.003</u>.
- Lazarus, R.S. and Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, appraisal, and coping*. Springer publishing company.
- Lloyd, J., Bond, F.W. and Flaxman, P.E. (2013). The value of psychological flexibility: Examining psychological mechanisms underpinning a cognitive behavioural therapy intervention for burnout. *Work & Stress*, 27(2), pp.181-199. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/02678373.2013.782157.
- Lundqvist, L.O. (2013). Prevalence and risk markers of behavior problems among adults with intellectual disabilities: A total population study in Örebro County, Sweden. *Research in developmental disabilities*, 34(4), pp.1346-1356. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2013.01.010</u>.
- Lunsky, Y., Fung, K., Lake, J., Steel, L. and Bryce, K. (2018). Evaluation of acceptance and commitment therapy (act) for mothers of children and youth with autism Spectrum Disorder. *Mindfulness*, 9(4), pp.1110-1116. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-017-0846-3</u>.
- Magnacca, C., Thomson, K. and Marcinkiewicz, A. (2021). Acceptance and commitment therapy for caregivers of children with neurodevelopmental disabilities: A systematic

review. *Current Developmental Disorders Reports*, 8(2), pp.152-160. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40474-021-00228-y</u>.

- Male, D. (2003). Challenging behaviour: the perceptions of teachers of children and young people with severe learning disabilities. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, 3(3), pp.162-171. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-3802.00011</u>.
- Marchant, E., Todd, C., James, M., Crick, T., Dwyer, R. and Brophy, S. (2021). Primary school staff perspectives of school closures due to COVID-19, experiences of schools reopening and recommendations for the future: A qualitative survey in Wales. *PLoS ONE*, 16(12), e0260396. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0260396.
- Maslach, C. and Jackson, S.E. (1984). Patterns of burnout among a national sample of public contact workers. *Journal of health and human resources administration*, 7(2), pp.189-212. Available at: <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/25780192</u>.
- Masuda, A., Hayes, S.C., Fletcher, L.B., Seignourel, P.J., Bunting, K., Herbst, S.A., Twohig, M.P. and Lillis, J. (2007). Impact of acceptance and commitment therapy versus education on stigma toward people with psychological disorders. *Behaviour research and therapy*, 45(11), pp.2764-2772. DOI: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2007.05.008">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2007.05.008</a>.
- Matheny, K.B., Gfroerer, C.A. and Harris, K. (2000). Work Stress, Burnout, and Coping at the Turn of the Century: An Individual Psychology Perspective. *Journal of individual psychology*, 56(1), pp.74-88. Available at: <u>https://www-proquest-</u> <u>com.ezproxy.bangor.ac.uk/docview/619494698?accountid=14874</u>.
- McManus, S., Bebbington, P., Jenkins, R. and Brugha T. (2016) (eds.). *Mental health and wellbeing in England: Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 2014*. Leeds: NHS Digital.
- Miles, M. B. and Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook*. Sage.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). (2015). *Challenging Behaviour* and Learning Disabilities: Prevention and interventions for people with learning disabilities whose behaviour challenges. NG11. Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng11/resources/challenging-behaviour-and-

learning-disabilities-prevention-and-interventions-for-people-with-learning-disabilitieswhose-behaviour-challenges-1837266392005.

- Nicholls, G., Hastings, R.P. and Grindle, C. (2020). Prevalence and correlates of challenging behaviour in children and young people in a special school setting. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 35(1), pp.40-54. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2019.1607659</u>.
- Noone, S.J. and Hastings, R.P. (2009). Building psychological resilience in support staff caring for people with intellectual disabilities: Pilot evaluation of an acceptance-based intervention. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities*, 13(1), pp.43-53. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2019.1607659</u>.
- Noone, S.J. and Hastings, R.P. (2010). Using acceptance and mindfulness-based workshops with support staff caring for adults with intellectual disabilities. *Mindfulness*, 1(2), pp.67-73. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-010-0007-4</u>.
- O'Connor, R.C., Wetherall, K., Cleare, S., McClelland, H., Melson, A.J., Niedzwiedz, C.L.,
  O'Carroll, R.E., O'Connor, D.B., Platt, S., Scowcroft, E. and Watson, B. (2021).
  Mental health and wellbeing during the COVID-19 pandemic: longitudinal analyses of adults in the UK COVID-19 Mental Health & Well–being study. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 218(6), pp.326-333. DOI: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2020.212">https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2020.212</a>.
- Prather-Jones, B. (2011). How school administrators influence the retention of teachers of students with emotional and behavioral disorders. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 84(1), pp.1-8. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2010.489387</u>.
- Public Health Wales. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: For a Happier, Healthier, Fairer and Sustainable Wales. 2016. <u>http://www.wales.nhs.uk/news/42762</u>.
- Pullis, M. (1992). An analysis of the occupational stress of teachers of the behaviorally disordered: Sources, effects, and strategies for coping. *Behavioral Disorders*, 17(3), pp.191-201. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/019874299201700306</u>.
- Rose, D. and Rose, J. (2005). Staff services for people with intellectual disabilities: the impact of stress on attributions of challenging behaviour. *Journal of Intellectual*

*Disability Research*, 49(11), 827-838. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-</u> 2788.2005.00758.x.

- Schlichte, J., Yssel, N. and Merbler, J. (2005). Pathways to burnout: Case studies in teacher isolation and alienation. *Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children* and Youth, 50(1), pp.35-40. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3200/PSFL.50.1.35-40</u>.
- Singh, N.N., Lancioni, G.E., Winton, A.S., Karazsia, B.T. and Singh, J. (2013). Mindfulness training for teachers changes the behavior of their preschool students. *Research in Human Development*, 10(3), pp.211-233. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15427609.2013.818484</u>.
- Smith, M.P. and Gore, N.J. (2012). Outcomes of a 'Train the Trainers' approach to an acceptance based stress intervention in a specialist challenging behaviour service. International Journal of Positive Behavioural Support, 2(1), pp.39-48. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Nick-Gore-2/publication/263137747\_Outcomes\_of\_a\_'Train\_the\_Trainers' approach\_to\_an\_ac ceptance\_based\_stress\_intervention\_in\_a\_specialist\_challenging\_behaviour\_service /links/55e56d1b08aede0b57359b32/Outcomes-of-a-Train-the-Trainers-approach-toan-acceptance-based-stress-intervention-in-a-specialist-challenging\_behaviour\_ service.pdf.
- Sweeney, D.P., Townley, A.J., Rutherterford, R.B. and Mathur, S.R. (1993). Stress among general and special education teachers of students with emotional or behavioral disorders: Possible implications for full inclusion. Monograph in behavioral disorders: Severe behavior disorders of children and youth, 16, pp.102-110.
- Taggart, F., Stewart-Brown, S. and Parkinson, J. (2015). Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (WEMWBS) User Guide, Version 2. NHS Health Scotland.
- Tennant, R., Hiller, L., Fishwick, R., Platt, S., Joseph, S., Weich, S., Parkinson, J., Secker, J. and Stewart-Brown, S. (2007). The Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (WEMWBS): Development and UK validation. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 5(1), pp.1-13. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-5-63.</u>
- Theis, N., Campbell, N., De Leeuw, J., Owen, M., Schenke, K.C. (2021). The effects of COVID-19 restrictions on physical activity and mental health of children and young

adults with physical and/or intellectual disabilities. *Disability Health Journal*, 14(3), pp.101064. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dhjo.2021.101064</u>.

- Toseeb, U., Asbury, K., Code, A., Fox, L. and Deniz, E. (2020). Supporting families with children with special educational needs and disabilities during COVID-19.
- Twohig, M. P. and Crosby J. M. (2008). Values clarification in O'Donohue, W.T. and Fisher,J. E. (Eds.), Cognitive behavior therapy: Applying empirically supported techniques in your practice (2nd ed., pp. 583-588). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley & Sons.
- Ueda, M., Nordström, R. and Matsubayashi, T. (2020). Suicide and mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic in Japan. *Journal of public health*, 44(3), pp.541-548. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdab113</u>.
- UNESCO. (2020). *School closures caused by Coronavirus (Covid-19)* [ONLINE]. 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.unesco.org/en/covid-19/education-response</u> [Accessed Jul 24 2020].
- Welsh Government. (2015). Well-being of Future Generations Act: The Essentials. Welsh Government, Cardiff. https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-10/wellbeing-future-generations-wales-act-2015-the-essentials-2021.pdf
- Welsh Government. (2019). *Additional learning needs (ALN) transformation*. [ONLINE]. Available at: <u>https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-09/additional-learning-needs-aln-transformation-programme-v2.pdf</u> [Accessed 4 May 2022].
- Welsh Government. (2020). *Review of the Together for Mental Health Delivery Plan 2019-2022 in Response to Covid-19.* Available at: https://gov.wales/mental-health-delivery-plan-2019-to-2022
- Wong, V.W., Ruble, L.A., Yu, Y. and McGrew, J.H., 2017. Too stressed to teach? Teaching quality, student engagement, and IEP outcomes. *Exceptional children*, 83(4), pp.412-427. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0014402917690729.
- Woodman, A.C., Mawdsley, H.P. and Hauser-Cram, P., 2015. Parenting stress and child behavior problems within families of children with developmental disabilities: Transactional relations across 15 years. *Research in developmental disabilities*, 36, pp.264-276. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2014.10.011</u>.

- Wrobel, G., 1993. Preventing school failure for teachers: Training for a lifelong career in EBD. Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth, 37(2), pp.16-20. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988X.1993.9944598</u>.
- Zabel, R.H. and Zabel, M.K., 1982. Factors in burnout among teachers of exceptional children. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/001440298204900312</u>.